

57 NDLR 17

118 LRP 4838

**Cullman County (AL) Schools
Office for Civil Rights, Southern Division,
Atlanta**

04-17-1114

September 19, 2017

Related Index Numbers

10.079 Service Animals

325.009 Field Trips

405.079 Service Animals

15.132 Public Entities, In General

15.142 Public Entities, Reasonable Modifications

**15.186 Transportation, Public School
Transportation**

37.045 Specific Conditions, Diabetes

**50.062 Federally Assisted Programs And
Activities, In General**

55.202 Service Animals

Judge / Administrative Officer

Melanie Velez, Regional Director

Case Summary

An Alabama district took steps to change its policies and practices after OCR stated that it discriminated against a first-grader with diabetes by refusing to allow his service dog to accompany him on the school bus to a field trip. The student obtained a diabetic alert dog to alert him when his blood sugar went out of range. The district added the student's service dog to his 504 plan, and prior to the field trip, the parent obtained written approval that authorized the student and his service dog to ride the school bus for the field trip. Despite the written authorization, the bus driver would not allow the student's service dog on the bus. The district transportation director advised the parent and school guidance counselor that the service dog was not allowed on the bus without: 1) a handwritten signed letter from the parent addressed and delivered to the superintendent requesting transportation for the service dog; 2) an updated

vaccination letter from a veterinarian; and 3) a letter from the company that certified the dog as a service animal. The transportation director advised that the service dog could not ride the bus and that there was no proper medical personnel to accompany the student; thus the student could not ride the bus either. OCR explained that, under Title II, a district must modify its policies, practices, and procedures to permit the use of a service animal by an individual with a disability. Here, OCR noted, the student's Section 504 plan stated that if the student's blood sugar is high, low, or unstable, the service dog would alert him. OCR explained that there was sufficient evidence to establish that the district's exclusion of the service animal on the field trip violated Section 504 and Title II at 34 CFR 104.4(b)(i). The district remedied OCR's concerns by agreeing to provide the parent with a written notification that her student was permitted to bring his service dog on district property, including school buses, conduct staff training regarding the service animal provisions of Title II, and offer counseling to the student to remedy the effects of the disability discrimination. Accordingly, OCR closed the complaint.

Full Text

Appearances:

Dear Mr. Barnett:

This is to advise you that the U.S. Department of Education (Department), Office for Civil Rights (OCR), is closing the above-referenced complaint filed against Cullman County Schools (District) alleging discrimination on the basis of disability. Specifically, the Complainant alleged that the District discriminated against her son, a student in the District (Student), when it refused to allow him to ride the school bus to a field trip with his service dog.

As a recipient of Federal financial assistance from the Department, the University is subject to the provisions of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504), 29 U.S.C. § 794, and its implementing regulation, 34 C.F.R. Part 104, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of disability by

recipients of Federal financial assistance. As a public entity, the University is subject to the provisions of Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (Title II), 42 U.S.C. §§ 12131 et seq., and its implementing regulation, 28 C.F.R. Part 35, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of disability by public entities. The District is a public entity and receives Federal financial assistance from the Department; accordingly, OCR has jurisdiction over this complaint pursuant to Section 504 and Title II.

OCR completed an investigation of the following legal issue:

Whether the District discriminated against the Student on the basis of his disability by refusing to allow him to ride the school bus to a field trip due to his disability (diabetes) and refusing to allow his service dog to accompany him on the school bus to a field trip, in noncompliance with the Section 504 implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. § 104.4(b)(1)(i) and the Title II implementing regulation at 28 C.F.R. §§ 35.130(a) and 35.136.

During the complaint resolution process, OCR reviewed documents provided by the District and the Complainant and conducted interviews with the Complainant and District staff. OCR reviewed the evidence under the preponderance standard to determine whether the District discriminated against the Student on the basis of his disability by refusing to allow him to ride the school bus to a field trip due to his disability and refusing to allow his service dog to accompany him on the school bus to a field trip. Based upon the available evidence, OCR found sufficient evidence to support a finding that the District was in noncompliance with Section 504 and Title II with regard to these complaint allegations. Set forth below is a summary of OCR's findings.

Legal Standard

Service Animals

The Title II regulations pertaining to Service Animals are found at 28 C.F.R. §§ 35.104 and 35.136. The Title II regulation at 28 C.F.R. § 35.104, in relevant part, defines a service animal as any dog that

is individually trained to do work or perform tasks for the benefit of an individual with a disability, including a physical, sensory, psychiatric, intellectual, or other mental disability. The work or tasks performed by a service animal must be directly related to the individual's disability. Examples of work or tasks include, but are not limited to, assisting individuals who are blind or have low vision with navigation and other tasks, alerting individuals who are deaf or hard of hearing to the presence of people or sounds, providing non-violent protection or rescue work, pulling a wheelchair, assisting an individual during a seizure, alerting individuals to the presence of allergens, retrieving items such as medicine or the telephone, providing physical support and assistance with balance and stability to individuals with mobility disabilities, and helping persons with psychiatric and neurological disabilities by preventing or interrupting impulsive or destructive behaviors.

The Title II regulation at 28 C.F.R. § 35.136(a) provides that a public entity shall modify its policies, practices, or procedures to permit the use of a service animal by an individual with a disability. The Title II regulation at 28 C.F.R. § 35.136(b) provides that a public entity may ask an individual with a disability to remove a service animal from the premises if: (1) The animal is out of control and the animal's handler does not take effective action to control it; or (2) The animal is not housebroken. The regulation at 28 C.F.R. § 35.136(c) provides that if a public entity properly excludes a service animal under § 35.136(b), it shall give the individual with a disability the opportunity to participate in the service, program, or activity without having the service animal on the premises. The regulation at 28 C.F.R. § 35.136(d) provides that a service animal shall be under the control of its handler. A service animal shall have a harness, leash, or other tether, unless either the handler is unable because of a disability to use a harness, leash, or other tether, or the use of a harness, leash, or other tether would interfere with the service animal's safe, effective performance of work or tasks, in which case the service animal must be otherwise

under the handler's control (e.g., voice control, signals, or other effective means).

The regulation at 28 C.F.R. § 35.136(f) governs inquiries and documentation. The Title II regulation provides that a public entity shall not ask about the nature or extent of a person's disability, but may make following two inquiries to determine whether an animal qualifies as a service animal: A public entity may ask, (1) if the animal is required because of a disability; and (2) what work or task the animal has been trained to perform. A public entity shall not require documentation, such as proof that the animal has been certified, trained, or licensed as a service animal. Generally, a public entity may not make these inquiries about a service animal when it is readily apparent that an animal is trained to do work or perform tasks for an individual with a disability (e.g., the dog is observed guiding an individual who is blind or has low vision, pulling a person's wheelchair, or providing assistance with stability or balance to an individual with an observable mobility disability). The Title II regulation at 28 C.F.R. § 35.136(g) states that individuals with disabilities shall be permitted to be accompanied by their service animals in all areas of a public entity's facilities where members of the public, participants in services, programs or activities, or invitees, as relevant, are allowed to go.

Improper exclusion of a service animal can result in persons with disabilities being subjected to different treatment or exclusion from participation in, denial of the benefits of, or otherwise being subjected to discrimination under a recipient's programs or activities.

The regulation implementing Section 504 at 34 C.F.R. §§ 104.4(a), (b)(1)(iii) and (b)(2) provides no qualified person with a disability shall, on the basis of disability, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity that receives Federal financial assistance. Additionally, the Title II regulations at 28 C.F.R. § 35.130(a) and (b)(1)(iii) include similar provisions.

Factual Findings

District Policy

The 2016-2017 Student handbook states that "no person shall, on the grounds of race, color, disability, sex, religion, national origin or age, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program, activity, or employment."

The District provided a copy of its revised "Procedures for Responding to Requests for a Student with a Disability to Bring a Service Animal to School" to OCR with its data response. The District's revised Service Animal Policy states that requests to bring a service animal on District property must be submitted in writing on a form, available in the Superintendent's Office, to the Superintendent within a reasonable time before bringing the service animal to school. The Policy clarifies that "a service animal may not be on school property without prior approval by the Superintendent or his/her designee." The District's revised Service Animal Policy also advises that the District may require the submission of proof of immunization, proper licensing, and registration pursuant to State law. The Policy requires that the service animal wear a restraint mechanism unless it would interfere with the animal's safe, effective performance of work or tasks. The Policy states that the District retains discretion to exclude or remove the service animal from its property if: (1) the animal is out of control and/or the handler does not effectively control the animal's behavior, (2) the animal is not housebroken, (3) the animal poses a direct threat to the health or safety of others that cannot be eliminated by making reasonable modifications, or (4) the animal's presence would constitute a fundamental alteration in the District's programs/activities. The Policy also details the District's grievance procedure.

The District's Procedure is not in compliance with the non-discrimination and Service Animal requirements of Section 504 and Title II regulations at 34 C.F.R. § 104.4(b)(1)(i) and 28 C.F.R. §§ 35.104 and 35.136. Specifically, the District's current

Procedures do not incorporate the Title II prohibition on making inquiries when it is readily apparent that an animal is trained to do work or perform tasks for an individual with a disability. Therefore, the language of the revised service animals Procedures and Request Form imply that individuals who use a service animal where it is readily apparent that the animal is trained to do work or perform tasks for that individual must also provide that information is in violation of 28 C.F.R. § 35.136(f).

Background

The Student is a seven year old First Grade student with Type 1 diabetes: hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia unawareness. Since Kindergarten during the 2015-2016 school year, the Student has had a 504 plan related to his diabetes. In June 2016, the Student obtained a diabetic alert dog to alert him when his blood sugar goes out of range since he does not feel his highs or lows. The District added the Student's service dog to his 504 plan on August 19, 2016. The Student's 504 plan provisions related to the service dog provides the following modifications:

1. Student will be allowed to have a service dog at all times and at any location on the School campus.
2. The dog will need water and bathroom breaks throughout the day. Treats and water will be kept in the classroom.
3. The school nurse will train staff on service dog awareness.
4. The nurse will visit the Student's classroom to notify/educate classmates of the service dog.
5. The classroom teacher will send home a newsletter at the beginning of the year and to any new student thereafter, informing parents of the presence of the service dog in their classroom.
6. The service dog will remain on a leash, with the exception of PE.
7. If the Student's blood sugar is high, low, or unstable, the service dog will "paw", "nose", or bark as an alert.
8. In the event of the dog's absence, parent will

notify the nurse and teacher.

On November 14, 2016, the Student was scheduled to participate on a field trip. Prior to the field trip, the Complainant obtained written approval on November 1, 2016 that authorized the Student, the Complainant and the service dog to ride the school bus for the November 14, 2016 field trip. Despite the written authorization, the Bus Driver would not allow the Student's service dog on the bus for the November 14, 2016 field trip. The Bus Driver called the District's Transportation Director who advised the Complainant and the Student's Guidance Counselor that the service dog was not allowed on the bus without the following: (1) a handwritten signed letter from the parent addressed and delivered to the Superintendent requesting transportation for the service dog, (2) an updated vaccination letter from the veterinarian, and (3) a letter from the company that certified the dog as a service animal. The Guidance Counselor advised the Transportation Director that she was not previously aware of these procedures but advised him that she could fax him items #2 and #3. The Transportation Director advised the Guidance Counselor that it would not be sufficient for her to fax the documents because the Complainant was required to provide these documents prior to the field trip. The Guidance Counselor advised the Transportation Director that she should have been notified of this procedure prior to the field trip. Further, the Guidance Counselor reiterated that the Student's 504 plan states that the Complainant and service dog will accompany him on the field trip or the District must send a licensed nurse. In response, the Transportation Director threatened the Guidance Counselor with termination if she let the service dog on the bus. The Transportation Director further advised the Guidance Counselor that since the service dog could not ride and there were no proper medical personnel to accompany him, that the Student could not ride the bus either.

The Guidance Counselor advised the Transportation Director that the provisions for the Student to take his service dog were detailed in the

Student's 504 plan and approved by the District's 504 Coordinator. The Transportation Director advised that he had no idea about Section 504 but opined that the 504 Coordinator might have made an error. The Transportation Director advised the Guidance Counselor that he would fax or e-mail her the procedure so that they could complete it for the next field trip. However, he reiterated his decision that neither the service dog nor the Student could ride the bus for the November 14, 2016 field trip. The Guidance Counselor advised the Transportation Director that the denial would not only upset the Complainant but upset and embarrass the Student because he made the Guidance Counselor tell the Student -- in front of his classmates -- why he would not be allowed to ride the bus with his friends and classmates. The Transportation Director replied that he did not know what else to tell her and reiterated that he would not allow the service dog or Student to ride the bus for the field trip. Following this telephone conversation, the Guidance Counselor removed the Student and the Guidance Counselor's daughter from the bus; she explained that the Student and her daughter were friends and she hoped that removing both of them from the bus would mitigate the Student's disappointment and embarrassment in response to the removal.

The conversation between the Guidance Counselor and the Transportation Director lasted for about 30 minutes; they spoke in front of two busses while the students overheard their conversation about the Student. When the Student got off the bus, his service dog alerted him. As a result, the Complainant checked the Student's blood sugar which was a low of 43.¹ The Complainant followed the bus in her car with the Student, the service dog, and the Guidance Counselor's daughter. The Student was upset and embarrassed because he did not get to ride the bus with his friends. The Student stated that he does not want to go on another field trip because he does not want to be embarrassed in the future.

The Complainant immediately notified the District Superintendent of the incident. The

Superintendent conducted an informal investigation and determined that the District had improperly precluded the Student from bringing his service dog on the field trip. The Superintendent requested that the District's attorney prepare a revised service animal policy and conduct training. Additionally, the Superintendent requested that the District 504 Coordinator provide training for all bus drivers on the requirements of Section 504, Title II and the legal requirements regarding service animals for students with disabilities.

Analysis & Conclusion

OCR finds that the Student is a qualified individual with a disability within the meaning of 34 C.F.R. § 104.3(j) and 28 C.F.R. § 35.104. During an interview with OCR, the Guidance Counselor acknowledged that the Student's 504 plan included his service dog as a modification and the Student had previously been permitted to bring his service dog to school without issue. Further, the Complainant and Student submitted all necessary documentation to participate fully in the field trip. There is no evidence that the District excluded the Student's service dog from the field trip for a permissible reason. Here, the Transportation Director had no reason to believe the animal was out of control, that the Student did not take effective action to control the service dog, or that the animal was not housebroken. Thus, there was no evidence to support the District's exclusion of the service animal as set forth at 28 C.F.R. §§ 35.136(b) and (c). Based upon the foregoing, the evidence is sufficient to establish that the District's exclusion of the Student's service animal from the November 2016 field trip violated Section 504 and Title II at 34 C.F.R. § 104.4(b)(1)(i) and 28 C.F.R. §§ 35.104 and 35.136.

On September 18, 2017, the District agreed to implement the enclosed Resolution Agreement (Agreement). Among other things, the Agreement requires the District to do the following: (1) modify its policies, practices, and procedures to permit the use of a service animal by an individual with a disability in order to conform to the requirements of

Section 504 and Title II; (2) provide training on the Section 504 and Title II non-discrimination obligation to individuals with disabilities who use service animals and on the terms and conditions of the Service Animal Policy; and, (3) provide the Complainant with written notification that the Student is permitted to bring his service dog on District property, including, but not limited to, school buses and all District buildings where students and members of the public are allowed to go; and (4) offer counseling to the Student in order to remedy the effects of the disability discrimination that the Student endured during the 2016-2017 school year.

When fully implemented, the Agreement entered into by the District will resolve the issues of noncompliance. OCR will monitor the implementation of the Agreement until the District is in compliance with the statutes and regulations at issue in the case.

Under the Freedom of Information Act, it may be necessary to release this document and related correspondence and records upon request. In the event that OCR receives such a request, we will seek to protect, to the extent provided by law, personally identifiable information, which, if released, could reasonably be expected to constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy.

Intimidation or retaliation against complainants by recipients of Federal financial assistance is prohibited. Please be advised that the District may not harass, coerce, intimidate, or discriminate against any individual because he or she has filed a complaint or participated in the complaint resolution process. If this happens, the Complainant may file another complaint alleging such treatment.

OCR will proceed with monitoring the Agreement, effective the date of this letter. OCR will monitor the District's implementation of the aforementioned Agreement to ensure that it is fully implemented. If the District fails to fully implement the Agreement, OCR will reopen the case and take appropriate action to ensure compliance with Section 504 and Title II.

This letter sets forth OCR's determination in an individual OCR case. This letter is not a formal statement of OCR policy and should not be relied upon, cited, or construed as such. OCR's formal policy statements are approved by a duly authorized OCR official and made available to the public. The Complainant may have the right to file a private suit in federal court whether or not OCR finds a violation.

This concludes OCR's consideration of this complaint, which we are closing effective the date of this letter. If you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact Adrienne Harris at (404) 974-9370.

Resolution Agreement

Cullman County School District

The U.S. Department of Education, Office for Civil Rights (OCR) and the Cullman County School District (District) enter into this Resolution Agreement (Agreement) to resolve the allegation in complaint number 04-17-1114. The District assures OCR that it will take the following actions to comply with the requirements of Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504), as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 794, and its implementing regulation at 34 C.F.R. Part 104, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of disability by recipients of Federal financial assistance from the Department; and Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (Title II), 42 U.S.C. § 12132 et seq., and its implementing regulation at 28 C.F.R. Part 35, which prohibit discrimination on the basis of disability by public entities.

Pursuant to Section 303(b) of OCR's Case Processing Manual, to resolve the issues of this investigation, the District agrees to implement the following corrective actions.

Action Item 1 -- Service Animal Policy

1. Within thirty (30) days of the execution of this Agreement, the District shall submit to OCR for review and approval, its revised policy or procedure to permit the use of a service animal by an individual

with a disability consistent with the provisions of Section 504 at 34 C.F.R. §§ 104.4(a); 104.4(b)(vii) and Title II at 28 C.F.R. § 35.136.

2. The District shall adopt and implement the Service Animal Policy within thirty (30) days of OCR approval. The District's Service Animal Policy shall incorporate the following provisions:

(a) **Inquiries.** The District shall not ask about the nature or extent of a person's disability, but may make two inquiries to determine whether an animal qualifies as a service animal. The District may ask if the animal is required because of a disability and what work or task the animal has been trained to perform. The District shall not require documentation, such as proof that the animal has been certified, trained, or licensed as a service animal. Generally, the District may not make these inquiries about a service animal when it is readily apparent that an animal is trained to do work or perform tasks for an individual with a disability (e.g., the dog is observed guiding an individual who is blind or has low vision, pulling a person's wheelchair, or providing assistance with stability or balance to an individual with an observable mobility disability).

(b) **Access to Areas of a Public Entity.** Individuals with disabilities shall be permitted to be accompanied by their service animals in all areas of the District's facilities where students, faculty, members of the public, participants in services, programs or activities, or invitees, as relevant, are allowed to go.

(c) **Surcharges.** The District shall not ask or require an individual with a disability to pay a surcharge, even if people accompanied by pets are required to pay fees, or to comply with other requirements generally not applicable to people without pets. If the District normally charges individuals for the damage they cause, an individual with a disability may be charged for damage caused by his or her service animal.

(d) The District may ask the individual with a disability to remove a service animal from the

premises if:

(1) The animal is out of control and the animal's handler does not take effective action to control it; or

(2) The animal is not housebroken.

(e) **If an Animal Is Properly Excluded.** If the District properly excludes a service animal, it shall give the individual with a disability the opportunity to participate in the service, program, or activity without having the service animal on the premises.

(f) **Animal Under Handler's Control.** A service animal shall be under the control of its handler. A service animal shall have a harness, leash, or other tether, unless either the handler is unable because of a disability to use a harness, leash, or other tether, or the use of a harness, leash, or other tether would interfere with the service animal's safe, effective performance of work or tasks, in which case the service animal must be otherwise under the handler's control (e.g., voice control, signals, or other effective means).

3. Within thirty (30) days of OCR's approval of the Service Animal Policy, the District will adopt, implement, and disseminate the approved Service Animal Policy to all current District administrators, faculty, teachers, and bus drivers.

4. Within sixty (60) days of OCR's approval of the Service Animal Policy, the District will publish the Service Animal Policy on the District's website and on the websites of each local school that maintains an additional local school website for the public. The District shall also publish the Service Animal Policy in its electronic versions of the Student and Parent handbooks.

5. Within sixty (60) days of the effective date of this Agreement, the District will send an electronic notification to the e-mail address on file for all parents/guardians notifying them of the revised Service Animal Policy, including a link to the full Service Animal Policy. Thereafter, during the 2018-2019 school year, the District shall publish the Service Animal Policy in all Student, Parent, and/or Employee handbooks.

REPORTING REQUIREMENT:

On June 23, 2017, prior to the signing of this Agreement, the District submitted a draft Service Animal Policy to OCR for review and approval. Within thirty (30) days of OCR's approval, the District will provide OCR with documentation that demonstrates that it has adopted, implemented and disseminated the Service Animal Policy to all current District administrators, faculty, teachers, and bus drivers. Within sixty (60) days of OCR's approval of the Service Animal Policy, the District will provide OCR with documentation that it published the Service Animal Policy on its website, and on the websites of each local school that maintains an additional local school website for the public. Within sixty (60) days of the effective date of this Agreement, the District shall provide documentation to OCR that demonstrates that it provided electronic versions of the Service Animal Policy in its Student and Parent handbook. Within sixty (60) days of the effective date of this Agreement, the District will provide confirmation to OCR that demonstrates that it provided electronic notice to the e-mail address on file for all parents/guardians notifying them of the revised policy, including a link to the full Service Animal Policy.

By September 1, 2018, the District will provide OCR with documentation that it published the Service Animal Policy in all Student, Parent, and/or Employee handbooks.

Action Item 2 --Training for District Faculty and Staff

6. Within sixty (60) days of the implementation of the OCR-approved Service Policy, the District will provide annual training on the Section 504 and Title II non-discrimination obligation to individuals with disabilities who use service animals and on the terms and conditions of the Service Animal Policy adopted pursuant to Action Item 1. The training will address, at minimum, general obligations under Section 504 and Title 11 to grant access to individuals who use service animals; guidelines and examples explaining

the bases for excluding a service animal; and clarification that there is no requirement that the student or visitor provide evidence of his or her disability or evidence of the animal's certification. The trainings will be provided to all school administrators, faculty, teachers, para-professionals/aides, and bus drivers.

REPORTING REQUIREMENT: Within sixty (60) days of completion of the training, the District will provide documentation demonstrating the following: a) the date, time and location of the training(s); b) an outline of the training and/or copy of the materials disseminated at the training; c) the name(s), title(s), and credentials of the individual(s) who conducted the training; d) the name and title of each individual who attended the training (including dated sign-in sheets with the attendees' names, titles, and work locations); and, e) the total number of staff members not in attendance and the measures taken by the District to ensure that each is provided the training materials and an opportunity to ask questions to clarify the materials

Action Item 3 -- Notice to Complainant

7. Within thirty (30) calendar days of the execution of this Agreement, the District will provide the Complainant with written notification (via certified mail, return receipt requested):

a. that the Student referenced in Complaint Number #04-17-114 is permitted to bring his service dog on District property, including, but not limited to, school buses and all District buildings where students and members of the public are allowed to go; and,

b. offer counseling to the Student in order to remedy the effects of the disability discrimination that the Student endured during the 2016-2017 school year. The District will provide the Complainant with a list of qualified counselors employed by the District (e.g. Guidance Counselors); the Complainant will select the counselor on behalf of the Student. If the Complainant elects to pursue counseling on behalf of the Student, the District will immediately begin providing the services. The amount of counseling

time will be determined by the counselor after meeting with and evaluating the Student. The District's counseling offer will expire forty-five (45) calendar days after the date of the District's letter to the Complainant.

REPORTING REQUIREMENT: Within sixty (60) calendar days after the execution of this Agreement, the District will provide OCR with a copy of the certified letter to the Complainant, referenced in Item #7 above. The District will also provide OCR with any communication(s) from the Complainant in response to the District's letter.

The District understands that by signing this Agreement, it agrees to provide data and other information in a timely manner in accordance with the reporting requirements of this Agreement. Further, the District understands that during the monitoring of this Agreement, if necessary, OCR may visit the District, interview staff and students, and request such additional reports or data as are necessary for OCR to determine whether the District has fulfilled the terms of this Agreement and is in compliance with the Section 504 implementing regulation, at 34 C.F.R. §§ 104.4 (a) and 104.4 (b)(vii) and Title II at 28 C.F.R. § 35.136. Upon completion of the obligations under this Agreement, OCR shall close and dismiss this case.

The District understands and acknowledges that OCR may initiate administrative enforcement or judicial proceedings to enforce the specific terms and obligations of this Agreement. Before initiating administrative enforcement (34 C.F.R. §§ 100.9, 100.10) or judicial proceedings to enforce this Agreement, OCR shall give the District written notice of the alleged breach and sixty (60) calendar days to cure the alleged breach.

This Agreement will become effective immediately upon signature of the Superintendent or Designee below.

¹The Student's 504 plan states that the Student's normal blood glucose range is 80-125.

Statutes Cited

29 USC 794

42 USC 12131

Regulations Cited

28 CFR 35.130

28 CFR 35.136